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1.  Licensee/Location Inspected:

Holcim (US) Inc. 
1345 Ford Avenue 
Alpena, MI 49707

Report Number(s) 2023-001

2.  NRC/Regional Office

Region III 
U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
2443 Warrenville Road, Suite 210 
Lisle, IL  60532-4352

3.  Docket Number(s)

 030-30142
4.  License Number(s)

 21-25823-01
5.  Date(s) of Inspection

June 21, 2023

LICENSEE:
The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the 
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective 
examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings 
are as follows:

1.  Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.✔

2.  Previous violation(s) closed.

3.  During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements, and 
     were assessed at Severity Level IV, in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.

B.  The following violation(s) is/are being cited in accordance with NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, 
      which may be subject to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11. 
      (Violations and Corrective Actions)

Statement of Corrective Actions
I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified.  This statement of corrective 
actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, date when full 
compliance will be achieved).  I understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.

A.  The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self- 
      identified, non-repetitive, corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy 
      were satisfied. 
      (Non-cited violation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s)

TITLE

NRC INSPECTOR

PRINTED NAME SIGNATURE AND DATE

LICENSEE'S 
REPRESENTATIVE

Ryan Craffey

BRANCH CHIEF Rhex Edwards

Digitally signed by Ryan J. Craffey 
Date: 2023.07.06 16:22:09 -04'00'

Digitally signed by Rhex A. Edwards 
Date: 2023.07.12 14:18:13 -05'00'



NRC FORM 592M
(10-04-2022)

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 

Materials Inspection Record

Page 1 of 2NRC Form 592M (10-04-2022)

                                                     

                                                     

1.  Licensee Name:

Holcim (US) Inc.
2.  Docket Number(s):

030-30142
3.  License Number(s)

21-25823-01

4.  Report Number(s):

2023-001
5.  Date(s) of Inspection:

June 21, 2023
6.  Inspector(s):

Ryan Craffey
7.  Program Code(s):

03120
8.  Priority:

5
9.  Inspection Guidance Used:

IP 87124
10.  Licensee Contact Name(s):

Janelle Baier - RSO

11.  Licensee E-mail Address:

janelle.baier@lafargeholcim.com

12.  Licensee Telephone Number(s):

989-657-3808

13.  Inspection Type: Initial

Routine✔ Announced

Non-Routine Unannounced✔

14.  Locations Inspected: Hybrid 

Main Office✔ Field Office 

Temporary Job Site Remote 

15.  Next Inspection Date (MM/DD/YYYY):

06/21/2028 Normal✔

Reduced

Extended

No change

16.  Location(s) Inspected List:
 
1435 Ford Avenue, Alpena, MI

17.  Scope and Observations:

Holcim, a multinational construction materials manufacturer, operated the Holcim Alpena cement plant in Alpena, 
Michigan. The plant was authorized to use fixed nuclear gauges for process measurements and incoming raw 
material analysis. At the time of the inspection, the plant had four TN 5206 gauges containing Cs-137 for level 
measurements, two Berthold LB 300 L gauges containing Co-60 for weight measurements, one SABIA X-1 materials 
analyzer containing Cf-252, and two Thermo Gamma Metrics Model 2000 materials analyzers containing Cf-252. 
The RSO oversaw the safe use of all devices, assisted by an instrument technician who had previous experience 
using portable moisture density gauges. The licensee also retained the services of various device manufacturers and 
authorized service providers for leak test analysis, analyzer source replacement, and other non-routine maintenance. 
 
The inspector toured the plant in Alpena. All areas were adequately posted, and all licensed material was adequately 
secured. Independent gamma radiation surveys in unrestricted areas were well below regulatory limits to members 
of the public. All devices were in good condition and adequately labeled. Confirmatory surveys in the vicinity of each 
device were consistent with gamma radiation profiles in the various SSDR safety evaluations.  
 
The inspector did note that a solid protective steel enclosure recently installed around the two TN 5206 gauges on 
21 Roll Press had begun collecting a significant amount of powdered raw material at the bottom, as there was no 
outlet. Approximately five months' worth of accumulated material had almost completely enveloped the lower gauge 
(s/n B3336). Out of concern for continued shutter functionality and extremity exposure that could result from 
repeatedly clearing material accumulated around the beam port by hand, the inspector discussed the finding with the 
RSO, who indicated that they would modify the enclosure as needed to address the buildup. 
 
The inspector also noted that the belt on the #2 ram mill conveyor had lost enough tension to begin making 
intermittent contact with the Berthold LB 300 L source holder installed below it. The paint and (at most) a minor 
amount of material had worn from the point of contact on the source holder. The inspector brought this to the RSO's 
attention as well, who indicated that they would ensure the belt was tightened during an upcoming outage.  
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The inspector also observed demonstrations of the pneumatic on-off mechanisms for the Thermo Gamma Metrics 
materials analyzers, discussed lock-out/tag-out procedures with staff, and reviewed a selection of records including 
receipt and initial survey documentation for Cf-252 replacement sources, physical inventories including shutter 
checks, leak test analysis results, and annual program audits.  

No violations of NRC requirements were identified as a result of this inspection. 

Signature and Date - Branch Chief

Digitally signed by Rhex A. Edwards 
Date: 2023.07.12 14:17:56 -05'00'
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